
LDFA Board Meeting 
March 17, 2015 

8:15 am to 10:15 am 
City of Ann Arbor 

301 E. Huron Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48104 

AAggeennddaa  
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Public Comment 
 Public comment shall be allowed at all meetings. An individual may speak for up to three (3) 
 minutes on any item listed on the Agenda. The Chair may extend an individual’s speaking 
 time in his/her discretion. Public comment on non-agenda items may be limited in the Chair’s 
 discretion. 

III. Approval of the Agenda 
 

IV. Approval of the Minutes 
a. January 13, 2015 Regular Board Meeting 

 
V. LDFA Chair’s report 

 
VI. LDFA Treasurer’s Report  

a. Approval of Budget/Contract Committee’s recommended FY2016 
Budget and FY2017 Plan 
 

VII. Reports from Service Providers  
 

VIII. Other Business 
a. update on SmartZone TIF extension 
b. report on the SPARK job creation audit 

 
IX. Motion to Adjourn 

  

1



    
 
 
 

Ann Arbor-Ypsilanti Smart Zone Local Development Finance Authority  
MINUTES for January 13, 2015 – REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

 
Ann Arbor City Hall Council Chambers 

301 E. Huron Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48104 
 

Members Present:  Richard Beedon, Caryn Charter, Vince Chmielewski, Eric 
Jacobson, Graydon Krapohl, Ned Staebler, Tom Crawford – Ex-officio, Skip Simms-
Accelerator Ex-officio 
 
Members Excused:  Carrie Leahy, Stephen Rapundalo, Bilal Saeed, Paula Sorrell-
MEDC Ex-officio 
 
Others Present:  Ken Bogan - City of Ann Arbor, Mary Fales - City of Ann Arbor, Kurt 
Riegger-Business Engines, Representatives of SPARK 
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 
Vice-Chair Charter called the meeting to order at 8:20 am.  A quorum was present. 

 
II. PUBLIC COMMENT: 

None. 
  

III. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 
Jacobson moved, seconded by Krapohl, to approve the agenda for this meeting in 
the form presented at this meeting.  Motion approved unanimously. 

 
IV. MOTIONS & RESOLUTIONS: 

Minutes of the October 14, 2014 Regular Board Meeting: 
Krapohl moved, seconded by Beedon, to approve the minutes of the meeting in the 
form presented at this meeting.  Motion approved unanimously. 
 

V. LDFA CHAIR’S REPORT:   
Chair Leahy was absent.  Board member Staebler introduced new member and Ann 
Arbor City Councilman, Graydon Krapohl. 

 
VI. LDFA TREASURER’S REPORT: 

Treasurer Rapundalo was absent.  Crawford presented the Treasurer’s report for the 
2nd quarter of FY2015. 

 
VII. REPORTS FROM SERVICE PROVIDERS:  

a. SPARK Report 2nd quarter FY2015 - Simms presented the report. 
 

2



VIII. OTHER BUSINESS: 
a. LDFA approval of TIF extension – Crawford updated the board on the 

process. 
Beedon moved, seconded by Charter, that the Board empowers the Budget 
Committee to approve the final language for the TIF plan and other extension 
documents for submission to the MEDC and the Ann Arbor and Ypsilanti City 
Councils.  Motion approved unanimously. 
 

IX. ADJOURNMENT: 
Krapohl moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Beedon. Motion approved 
unanimously.  Meeting was adjourned at 9:28 am. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Ken Bogan, for Recording Secretary Tom Crawford 

3



Ann Arbor/Ypsilanti SmartZone LDFA -- FY2016 Budget & FY2017 Plan

 Actual 
FY2013 

 Actual 
FY2014 

 Budget 
FY2015 

 FY2015 
Estimate 

 City 
Recommended 
Request FY2016 

 City 
Recommended 

Projected 
FY2017 

 SPARK 
Recommended 

Requested 
FY2016 

 SPARK 
Recommended 

Projected 
FY2017 

 LDFA Request 
FY2016 

 LDFA 
Projected 

FY2017  Comments 
REVENUES avg spend
Tax Revenue 1,546,577$    1,964,393$    2,058,192$    2,331,380$    2,538,288$        2,747,093$         2,538,288$         2,747,093$        2,538,288$    2,747,093$    
Investment Income (4,359)            17,090           12,940           12,940           15,022               16,419                15,022                 16,419               15,022           16,419           
Total Revenue 1,542,218$    1,981,483$    2,071,132$    2,344,320$    2,553,310$        2,763,512$         2,553,310$         2,763,512$        2,553,310$    2,763,512$    

EXPENDITURES
Business Accelerator Support Services

SPARK Business  Accelerator Direct Staffing 337,000$       400,000$       420,000$       420,000$       432,600$           445,600$            546,000$            562,400$           432,600$       445,600$       
 Leveraged grants are 
expiring. 

Phase II - Due Diligence 16,891           8,935              25,000           25,000           25,000               25,000                25,000                 25,000               25,000           25,000           
Phase III - Intensive Service 541,958         524,262         550,000         550,000         550,000             550,000              550,000               550,000             550,000         550,000         
Phase IV - Accelerating Opportunities 82,044           30,426           75,000           60,000           75,000               75,000                75,000                 75,000               75,000           75,000           
   Sub-Total 977,893         963,623         1,070,000      1,055,000      1,082,600          1,095,600           1,196,000           1,212,400          1,082,600      1,095,600      

Microloan -                  -                  -                  -                  -                      -                       100,000               100,000             

    
reloaned and fund balance 
is now nearly depleted. 

Business Networking Events 47,090           38,892           40,000           44,000           40,000               40,000                45,000                 45,000               40,000           40,000           

Entreprenuer Education
Education Classes 29,870           33,115           62,500           50,000           62,500               62,500                60,000                 62,500               62,500           62,500           
Bootcamp 39,000           41,000           50,000           50,000           50,000               50,000                50,000                 50,000               50,000           50,000           
   Sub-Total 68,870           74,115           112,500         100,000         112,500             112,500              110,000              112,500             112,500         112,500         

Internship Support & Talent Training 55,851           114,012         200,000         250,000         200,000             200,000              300,000              300,000             200,000         200,000         See memo
Business Software Access for Clients 7,330             16,497           20,000           20,000           20,000               20,000                20,000                 20,000               20,000           20,000           
SPARK Central Incubator Operating Exp 165,892         190,113         200,000         180,000         185,400             191,000              185,400              191,000             185,400         191,000         +3% city est

Incubator Expansion (Infrastructure) 131,412         30,000           40,000           300,000              
Expansion of Incubator 
buildout and space

Ypsilanti 253,829              274,709             10% of revenue

SPARK Indirect Services
SPARK Accounting 65,086           67,000           68,500           68,500           70,600               72,700                95,000                 97,900               70,600           72,700           +3% city est
Marketing 64,433           72,127           150,000         130,000         150,000             150,000              150,000               150,000             150,000         150,000         
   Sub-Total 129,519         139,127         218,500         198,500         220,600             222,700              245,000              247,900             220,600         222,700         

City of Ann Arbor Indirect Services

Legal & Admin Support 29,030           57,431           89,271           89,271           97,700               74,300                97,700                 74,300               97,700           74,300           

City support 
+attorney/audit $20k 
+metrics study $25k

Total Operating Expenditures 1,481,475$    1,725,222$    1,980,271$    1,976,771$    1,958,800$        1,956,100$         2,499,100$         2,203,100$        1,958,800$    1,956,100$    

   Net Increase (Use) of Fund Balance 60,743$         256,261$       90,861$         367,549$       594,510$           807,412$            54,210$              560,412$           594,510$       807,412$       

Beginning Fund Balance 588,762$       649,505$       905,766$       905,766$       1,273,315$        1,867,825$         1,273,315$         1,327,525$        1,273,315$    1,867,825$    
Ending Fund Balance 649,505$       905,766$       996,627$       1,273,315$    1,867,825$        2,675,237$         1,327,525$         1,887,937$        1,867,825$    2,675,237$    

Fund balance as % of expenditures 44% 53% 50% 64% 95% 137% 53% 86% 95% 137%

4



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ann Arbor-Ypsilanti SmartZone 
Local Development Finance Authority 

 
Washtenaw County, Michigan 

 
AUDIT OF THE ANN ARBOR SPARK 

JOB CREATION REPORTING 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2014 
 
 



Ann Arbor/Ypsilanti SmartZone 
Local Development Finance Authority 

 
Audit of the Ann Arbor SPARK Job Creation Reporting  

 
Year Ended June 30, 2014 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 
Report Letter 1-2 
 
Executive Summary 3-4 
 
Jobs Created Tracking and Reporting Methodology 5-6 
 
Confirmation Procedures and Results 7-8 
 
Best Practices 9-10 
 
 
 



  
 
 
 
 
  ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C.                                                                       
 Certified Public Accountants 
 
 
 

Auburn Hills ▪ East Lansing ▪ Grand Rapids ▪ St. Johns 
- 1 - 

 Principals 
 ---———--—— 
Dale J. Abraham, CPA 
Michael T. Gaffney, CPA 
Steven R. Kirinovic, CPA 
Aaron M. Stevens, CPA  
Eric J. Glashouwer, CPA 
Alan D. Panter, CPA 
William I. Tucker IV, CPA 

3511 Coolidge Road
Suite 100 

East Lansing, MI 48823 
(517) 351-6836 

FAX: (517) 351-6837 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Members of the LDFA Board 
Ann Arbor/Ypsilanti SmartZone Local Development Finance Authority 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 
 
 
Independent Accountant’s Report on Applying Agreed-Upon Procedures 
 
We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by the Ann 
Arbor/Ypsilanti SmartZone Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA), solely to assist 
them in evaluating the job creation reporting of Ann Arbor SPARK.  Ann Arbor SPARK’s 
management is responsible for reporting jobs created under a contract with the LDFA.  This 
agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation 
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  The 
sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of those parties specified in the 
report.  Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures 
described below either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any 
other purpose.   
 
To perform this task, we met with LDFA and Ann Arbor SPARK representatives to gain an 
understanding of the current contract.  Our procedures included interviewing and observing 
SPARK’s management and operational personnel to determine how the information is 
gathered and reported.  The scope of our engagement also included direct confirmation of 
the information provided by SPARK with the companies they reported having served. 
 
Our engagement was not designed to express an opinion on Ann Arbor SPARK’s internal 
controls or financial statements and we do not express such an opinion.  As you know, 
because of inherent limitations of any internal control, errors or fraud may occur and not be 
prevented or detected by internal controls.  However, we believe that Ann Arbor SPARK, in 
all material respects, complied with the contract during the period under audit.  Projections of 
any evaluation of the current accounting system and controls are subject to the risk that the 
procedures may become inadequate because of changed conditions.  Our observations and 
recommendations are provided throughout this report. 
 
 
 



 

- 2 - 

This report is intended solely for the use of management and the LDFA Board of the Ann 
Arbor/Ypsilanti SmartZone Local Development Finance Authority and is not intended to be 
and should not be used for any other purpose.  We wish to express our appreciation for the 
courtesy and cooperation extended to us during our engagement.  We are available to 
discuss any or all of these recommendations with you and to provide assistance in the 
implementation of improvements. 
 
 
 
 
ABRAHAM & GAFFNEY, P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
February 19, 2015 
 
 

tshawnee
A&G Signature



 

- 3 - 

Executive Summary 
 
Background 
 
Because of their expertise, interest in stimulating economic growth in the Ann Arbor/Ypsilanti 
area, and contacts available to them, Ann Arbor SPARK (SPARK) was contracted by the Ann 
Arbor/Ypsilanti SmartZone LDFA (LDFA) to provide entrepreneurial services to early-stage 
business owners.  SPARK is a nonprofit corporation whose mission is to advance the 
economic development of innovation-based businesses in the Ann Arbor region by offering 
programs, resources, and proactive support to businesses at every stage, from start-ups to 
large organizations looking for expansion opportunities. 
 
In the contract (the “contract”) dated June 18, 2013, SPARK agreed to disclose: 

 

1. A census of the annual and cumulative number of jobs created within the Service Area 
(as defined) as of June 30, 2014 (with ‘jobs created’ defined as the incremental 
increase in the number of Full Time Equivalent employees (FTEs) beginning with the 
date a Business Accelerator proposal is signed, or a loan provided, or when a SPARK 
Central Incubator agreement is first executed, or when participation in a Boot Camp 
session occurs). 

2. A census of the annual and cumulative number of jobs related to Business Accelerator, 
SPARK Central Incubator, and Boot Camp attendees that have left the Service Area 
because of relocation, merger, acquisition, or business failure as of June 30, 2014. 

3. A census of the number and identity of current and past clients the Contractor 
(SPARK) deems no longer eligible for LDFA funded services as of June 30, 2014. 

4. A census of the number and identity of clients for which information regarding job 
creation is no longer being collected as of June 30, 2014. 

 
Additionally, “The Contractor shall track companies for a period of five years through an 
annual survey and make efforts to achieve as high a participation rate as possible.  The 
survey will not only include questions that update standard economic development data but 
also ask companies who leave the area why.” 
 
In its Final Program Progress Report, which was presented to the LDFA on August 30, 2014, 
SPARK appears to have reported substantially all of the information called for in the contract 
and we are aware that a survey was conducted but did not look into the content of the survey 
per the requirements above.  Our procedures were focused on the job number creation as 
follows. 
 



 

- 4 - 

Audit Scope and Procedures 
 
In our engagement letter dated July 16, 2014, the LDFA contracted with Abraham & Gaffney, 
P.C. to: 
 
1. Document method of collection and obtain support for annually reported job creation 

numbers.  Perform the following with respect to this information: 
 

 Select a statistically relevant sample of companies reporting and independently 
confirm jobs created figures. 

 Provide commentary on best practices for collection of this information and any 
opportunities for improvement of SPARK’s process. 

 
Our procedures consisted of inquiry, observation, and independent confirmation of job 
numbers with respect to the 2013-2014 contract with the LDFA.  Our main contacts at 
SPARK for this project were: 
 

Bill Mayer, Vice President, Entrepreneurial Services 
Liz Perpich, Director of Administration and Finance 
Ben Harrington, Data Analyst 

 
We wish to thank Bill, Liz, and Ben for their assistance during the procedures that we carried 
out. 
 
Audit Results 
 
As a result of our auditing procedures, we determined that: 
 
1. The job creation numbers reported by SPARK are compiled and reported through what 

appeared to be a reliable and consistent methodology.   
2. Our confirmation procedures revealed some significant differences in the numbers 

reported by the companies and SPARK, which seems to point out some inherent issues 
with the self-reporting system that is in use.  As a result, it appears that the job creation 
numbers should be regarded by users as an approximation and not necessarily an exact 
figure. 

3. The job creation numbers maintained and reported by SPARK are the most accurate 
figures available on a “best efforts” basis.  The data being captured changes rapidly. 

 
Documentation of the system used, our confirmation procedures, and related commentary 
are detailed in the applicable sections of the following report. 



 

- 5 - 

Jobs Created Tracking and Reporting Methodology 
 
SPARK reports job creation numbers through a self-reporting process using SalesForce 
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) software that works in two basic ways: 
 

1. Manual updates as personal contact is made with companies 
2. Annual survey 
 

SalesForce CRM software is a browser based tool customized to SPARK’s use.  SalesForce 
is used to track all interactions with Business Accelerator (BA) and other companies and also 
to produce the reports used for monthly billings to the LDFA as well as quarterly and annual 
reporting.   
 
Each company SPARK works with has an “Account” page in SalesForce.  This Account page 
contains general information about each company including name, address (according to the 
Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs - LARA), phone number, website, 
etc.  The Account page also includes a data field called “Current FTE Jobs” which is either 
updated manually based on personal contact of some kind or automatically from the survey.  
This “Current FTE Jobs” field is used to report the number of jobs as of any given time that 
the Account page is viewed or a report is run.   
 
Within each Account page in SalesForce, there is an area for “Opportunities”.  These are 
used to track the various tasks or activities taking place with each of the companies such as 
proposals (Business Accelerator grants), investment (grant), contract phases, loans, etc.  
Inside each Opportunity is a field called “Retained FTE Jobs”.  This number is a “snapshot” of 
Full Time Equivalent jobs (FTE’s) that the company has at the time of each specific activity.  
When this field is viewed across Opportunities, a history of job numbers can be seen.  This 
field does not update and is not linked to the previously described field “Current FTE Jobs”. 
 
The annual survey (which covers the previous fiscal year period July 1 through June 30 each 
year) was done using “Clicktools”, which is a plug-in to SalesForce.  For this year, the survey 
went out on July 14, 2014 to 565 companies.  The survey was sent out electronically (by 
email) and each question is linked back to (and updates on response) the company 
information in SalesForce.  One of the questions is Current FTE Jobs.  122 companies (22%) 
responded to the survey. 
 
Soon after the survey closed, which would have been in mid-August 2014, SPARK ran a 
report in SalesForce that compared “Retained FTE Jobs” to “Current FTE Jobs” and 
computed the difference between those two as “New Jobs”, which totaled 169.  This report 
was furnished to Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. and was used in our confirmation procedures that 
are described in the next section of this report. 
 
  



 

- 6 - 

Jobs Created Tracking and Reporting Methodology - continued 
 
Observations Regarding Tracking and Reporting Methodology 
 

 SPARK appears to be using a system that contains data points that are used 
consistently and produce reliable reports on demand. 

 The Retained FTE Jobs is a field which defines how many jobs were present as of the 
time that SPARK first worked with a given company.  For this reason, the job creation 
numbers cannot be construed to apply to any easily defined period of time. 

 The Current FTE Jobs field is updated either manually or through the survey.  This 
number is a “snapshot” as of the time that it is updated and does not represent any 
specific period of time.  This number is current as of the time the annual reporting was 
done, which may or may not correspond to the end of the contract period June 30, 2014. 

 We found that SPARK accurately compiled and reported the jobs created numbers 
that were generated from their system. 



 

- 7 - 

Confirmation Procedures and Results 
 
Introduction 
 
As stated above, Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. selected a statistically relevant sample of 
companies to directly confirm the number of FTE jobs they had as of July 1, 2013 and June 
30, 2014.  The July 1, 2013 data point was selected as an approximate measure of the onset 
of entrepreneurial engagements and would not necessarily line up with “Retained FTE Jobs” 
as described above.  It was thought that using the July 1, 2013 data point would provide 
some consistency in the reporting rather than asking companies how many FTEs they had 
when SPARK commenced with their services.  FTE jobs as of June 30, 2014 should line up 
with “Current FTE Jobs” as described above. 
 
Sampling Methodology 
 
SPARK submitted to Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. a spreadsheet that listed all companies that 
had received entrepreneurial services, their Retained FTE Jobs, and the Current FTE Jobs.  
There was also a column on the spreadsheet that computed the difference between Retained 
FTE Jobs and Current FTE Jobs, New Jobs.  The total New Jobs per this spreadsheet was 
169, which corresponds to the number reported on the Final Program Progress Report. 
 
We sorted the spreadsheet by New Jobs, in ascending order.  We selected the companies 
with the largest numbers of New Jobs until we had selected 88.5, which is more than half of 
the 169 reported.  This amounted to 10 companies that would be confirmed.  Confirmations 
were prepared by Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. and signed by SPARK.  The confirmations were 
mailed by Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. asking companies to respond directly to us. 
 
Confirmation Results 
 
All 10 confirmations were returned.  The table below shows the detailed results of our 
confirmation procedures.  This table contains only the companies that were selected for 
confirmation and all totals refer to the sample only except that the highlighted 169 is a grand 
total. 
 

 
 

Confirmed Confirmed 

7/1/2013 6/30/2014 

Account Retained FTE Jobs Current FTE Jobs New Jobs
Dynamic Perception LLC 2 6 7 7 5

Root3 Technologies, Inc. 2 2 7 2 5

AirBlade, LLC 4 0 10 1.5 6

AMF-Nano Corporation 1 1 7 6 6

Ornicept, Inc. 2 5 9 13 7

Seelio, Inc. 8 7 16 17 8

Flock Tag LLC 2 10 10.5 14 8.5

Backyard Brains Incorporated 4 10 14 13 10

Avegant Corporation 2 6 17 9 15

Think Tech Labs, LLC 7 10 25 24 18

169

Totals 34 57 122.5 106.5 

Difference (confirmed - reported) 23 -16 



 

- 8 - 

Confirmation Procedures and Results - continued 
 
Additional Procedures 
 
In order to more fully understand the differences between the FTEs confirmed and what was 
reported, Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. conducted telephone interviews with 4 of the companies 
that reported the largest differences.  It should be noted that 2 of the 4 companies selected 
for further follow-up had not responded to SPARK’s survey.  Based on further probing, none 
of these companies changed their response from what was confirmed; all indicated that FTEs 
were accurate to the best of their knowledge.  Feedback obtained from these interviews 
supports the observations below. 
 
Observations Regarding Confirmation Results 
 
 The difference between the July 1, 2013 confirmed FTE jobs and Retained FTE Jobs (23 

more confirmed than Retained) suggests that services for these organizations were 
ongoing as of that date.  Further investigation and inquiry of SPARK indicates that 4 of the 
10 companies confirmed had onset of services before July 1, 2013.  These 4 companies 
account for 15 of the 23 FTEs reported above as a difference.  It is important to note that 
the job reporting requirement is not tied to the contract year (SPARK indicated this in the 
Final Program Progress Report), but we point this out since it would be easy to infer that 
169 jobs were created in 2013-14 based on the way other items are reported.    

 The difference between the June 30, 2014 confirmed FTE jobs and Current FTE Jobs 
appears to be due to four main factors: 

o Differences in definitions of what constitutes an FTE and whether this includes 
contractors/seasonal help or not. 

o A different person may have completed the confirmation vs. the survey.  
o Timing of when the Current FTE Jobs was updated (either manually or in the 

survey) and June 30, 2014. 
o Rapid changes in headcount of early-stage companies.  The differences noted for 

Airblade, LLC and Avegant Corporation appear to fall into this category.  The two 
companies were undergoing major changes at the time of the survey and audit 
which are reflected in the results. 

 
Conclusion 
 
SPARK does compile and report the job creation numbers based on a system that contains 
readily identifiable data points and repeatable, accurate calculations.  However, based on the 
differences observed in our confirmation procedures and due to the factors considered 
above, it appears that the number of jobs created and reported is an approximation and 
should not be otherwise interpreted by users. 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

- 9 - 

Best Practices 
 
As noted above, part of the task Abraham & Gaffney, P.C. performed was to gather 
information on best practices and provide commentary and any recommendations for 
improvement of SPARK’s processes.  Toward that end, we contacted two similar 
organizations and made inquiries of senior management representatives to gather 
information on how they capture and report job creation data.  We would like to acknowledge 
and thank Ben Keller from JumpStart, Inc. (Cleveland, OH) and Wayne Embree from Tech 
Columbus (Columbus, OH) for their time and contributions to this report. 
 
In many ways, the systems employed by the three organizations (SPARK, JumpStart, Inc., and 
Tech Columbus) were similar.  Significant areas in which these similarities stood out were: 
 

 All employ self-reporting systems that use SalesForce to track and report the 
employment numbers.  All stated their desire for a more objective measure, but none 
had found a way to make this a reality. 

 All three organizations reported using SalesForce in a customized environment to 
track and report on jobs data. 

 All three organizations indicated that the job creation numbers were reported based on 
a concept of FTEs and not simply a generic number of jobs.   

 The methods of compiling and reporting the numbers in SalesForce appear to be 
similar. 

 All three organizations use a survey to gather information on jobs from client companies. 
 
There were also ways in which the three were not similar.  It is important to note that these 
differences are reported for information only, not to be construed as recommended changes.  
Those included: 
 

 Both JumpStart, Inc. and Tech Columbus reported that their surveys were done twice 
per year. 

 Both JumpStart, Inc. and Tech Columbus reported that their ratios of companies 
surveyed to staff working with engaged companies was about 10:1. SPARK’s ratio is 
about 100:1. 

 Both JumpStart, Inc. and Tech Columbus reported that companies who did not respond 
to the survey were excluded from the ongoing jobs numbers. 

 Tech Columbus reported that their definition of an FTE extended only to positions that 
are paid, which would exclude early-stage entrepreneurs or key employees who are 
working for no pay or will be paid in future equity.  

 Both JumpStart, Inc. and Tech Columbus reported that their surveys specifically 
delineate between persons being reported as contractors and those who are 
employees.    

 Tech Columbus reported that they had increased survey response rates by going 
through a database “cleansing” process to remove companies that had been sold or 
gone out of business and also by narrowing their definition of what constitutes an 
engaged company. 

 Both JumpStart, Inc. (over 90%) and Tech Columbus (99.5%) reported response rates 
for their surveys well in excess of that reported by SPARK (22%).  This higher response 
rate can be explained by two factors, which are described above - higher ratios of staff 
to engaged companies and the removal of companies that do not respond from the 
survey. 
  



 

- 10 - 

Recommendations for Improvement - SPARK 
 
Based on our observations and the information obtained and detailed above, we would 
recommend the following to enhance the accuracy of job number reporting for SPARK: 
 

1. SPARK should consider conducting the survey more often, possibly twice per year. 
2. SPARK experienced a higher response rate (22%) in 2014 than in the past.  Possible 

strategies to continue this improvement include: 
a. More robust and frequent communication with client companies regarding the 

importance of responding to the survey. 
b. Consider including in the Statement of Understanding for Phase II companies an 

assurance that the company will respond to the surveys, including possible 
negative consequences for non-responsive companies. 

c. Increased follow-up after the survey goes out to make sure that the intended 
recipients were reached and the response is submitted. 

3. SPARK should consider expanding the questions that are asked in the survey to 
encompass more information such as delineations between contractors, non-payroll key 
employees, outside contributors, and part-time employees.  This may require some 
modifications of the SalesForce database but may serve to reduce errors due to 
differences in definition or perception. 

 
MEDC 
 
The final portion of our examination of best practices involved contacting the Michigan 
Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) for their views and suggestions on the subject.  
We spoke to Roselyn Zator, Entrepreneurial Service Provider Managing Director, to obtain 
this information. 
 
Ms. Zator stated that MEDC oversees nineteen (19) SmartZone LDFA’s and other grantees 
across the state.  As part of this oversight, SPARK reports jobs created to MEDC on a 
monthly basis.  MEDC also annually visits its grantees and audits the records of jobs created, 
but these audits are not as extensive as the procedures that were performed in this report.  
MEDC does not attempt to go past the audited organization and confirm job numbers as was 
done in this engagement.  MEDC has had no issues with SPARK’s job creation reporting 
based on these annual visits and the self-reporting system currently in place.  Ms. Zator 
stated that this engagement to audit SPARK’s job creation reporting was the first of its kind in 
the State to her knowledge.  MEDC is considering requiring similar audits in the future for 
organizations similar to SPARK. 
 
Six (6) organizations similar to SPARK also report monthly job creation numbers to MEDC.  
Those organizations are in Grand Rapids, Houghton/Hancock, Troy, Lansing, Detroit, and 
Kalamazoo.  According to Ms. Zator, all of these organizations are using a self-reporting 
system such as the one that SPARK is employing.  Also, the same SalesForce software is 
widely used to compile the numbers.  She pointed out some of the same issues we have noted 
that affect the accuracy of the job reporting data that we have - timing, perception/knowledge of 
the person responding, rapid changes of early stage companies, and also the cost/benefit of 
expending additional resources to improve these numbers.  She suggested that the job 
creation numbers could be improved if organizations such as SPARK started to require some 
sort of backup such as payroll information to be included with the job reporting, but also 
recognized that MEDC has not found a way to include this level of consistent verification while 
also maintaining the level of confidentiality that is necessary under the circumstances.  MEDC 
is open to suggestion on this subject. 


	LDFA 03.17.15 agenda packet
	03.17.15 AGENDA
	I. Call to Order
	III. Approval of the Agenda
	IV. Approval of the Minutes
	a. January 13, 2015 Regular Board Meeting
	IX. Motion to Adjourn


	01.13.15 MINUTES
	Ann Arbor City Hall Council Chambers
	301 E. Huron Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48104

	LDFA FY2016 Budget-SPARK Draft
	proposed LDFA Budget


	Ann Arbor-Ypsilanti SmartZone LDFA 2014 SPARK Job Creation Audit



